Kansas Department of Wildlife, Parks & Tourism Commission Meeting Minutes Thursday, January 9, 2020 Riverside Community Building 510 Park Ave, Iola, Kansas

> Approved Subject to 4/23/20 Commission Approval

The January 9, 2020 meeting of the Kansas Wildlife, Parks and Tourism Commission was called to order by Chairman Gerald Lauber at 1:30 p.m. at the Riverside Community Building, Iola. Chairman Lauber and Commissioners Emerick Cross, Gary Hayzlett, Aaron Rider, Warren Gfeller, Lauren Sill and Troy Sporer were present.

II. INTRODUCTION OF COMMISSIONERS AND GUESTS

The Commissioners and department staff introduced themselves (Attendance Roster – Exhibit A).

III. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA ITEMS

Sheila Kemmis – Agenda on the table has been revised to add item 3 to general discussion, an award presentation by Jason Deal instead of Stuart Schrag. (Agenda – Exhibit B).

IV. APPROVAL OF THE November 14, 2019 MEETING MINUTES

Commissioner Warren Gfeller moved to approve the minutes, Commissioner Lauren Queal Sill second. *Approved* (Minutes – Exhibit C).

V. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

David Lauber, Yates Center – Deer hunting and permits, brought up that deer population is smaller than it used to be, but Woodson County is increasing. I am fixing fences daily; they are destroying crops and are overpopulated. Had four hunters coming from Texas this fall to archery hunt, but they did not get drawn; and a neighbor who had two hunters who did not draw. Did calculations based on how much nonresident deer hunters pay, how much they pay us and neighbor and in Yates Center, roughly \$13,000 in lost revenue. Didn't hunt this year for physical reasons. See minimum of 20 deer in patch of timber, 80 to 90 acres. One of your employees two years ago counted 80 deer on 30 acres; a year ago my brother drove three miles and saw 60 deer. Do something to get population down, doing damage, worried about CWD and deer sizes are getting smaller. Usually rut is over by the time rifle deer season starts but bucks still chasing does last week. Request from Texas guys, since he didn't get drawn and got a preference point, can get deer tag next year? Somebody didn't make the list so the whole group got denied. How should they apply, as group or individuals? Landowners are feeding deer, not your deer until deer season, wildlife if car accidents or damage. To help feelings, don't understand why landowner can't get a tag for no charge, I know I can get it for \$20 but costing us time and

money, lot more the \$20 it costs. If your livelihood depends on farming and cattle, hurting us and lot of deer car accidents, see dead deer all the time. Why can't a landowner get a tag to sell to a lease hunter to supplement income, farming not great right now. Cost us \$4,000 last fall that we could have used. I am in charge of hunting policy in the family, if leasers come in and want to hunt a buck they must shoot a doe too. Can remember when you only could get a doe tag. Deer are multiplying. I know we can't do anything about beaver or armadillos and the damage they do, but deer can be managed if come up with solution to get deer numbers down. Chairman Lauber – On preference point, how does that work? Assistant Secretary Miller – Ninety-one percent of the nonresidents who applied last year drew permits, anyone who didn't got a preference point and will draw a permit next year. If they want to apply as a group all of them need that same status, if one in group doesn't have a preference point it will drop back to that. They each need to apply for same permit type and unit and if they all have one preference point they will be drawn; virtually guaranteed a deer permit with one preference point. David Lauber – If they want to come in and lease to hunt I will let them. When they got denied it cost them \$25 for administrative fees; done by computer and they should be able to get all of their money back. Doesn't seem right. Chairman Lauber – Reserve the right to disagree on some points and agree on others. Secretary Loveless – Talk to Levi Jaster, our deer expert, he will be her later. He keeps track of population trends and would like to hear your information and share our best data. That data, including observations like yours, helps us set standards for different units. More liberal on issuing depredation tags and our folks have flexibility to help you with that, want to target does on that. Nonresidents not interested in shooting does, but our residents are. You mentioned landowner transferable tags, our concern is it makes it difficult to know numbers of deer that would be harvested, important as we try to maintain a sweet spot where quality remains high, reputation remains good and then you can command top dollar on leased land. The value is your land, that is what you are selling. We are trying to keep success rate high, over 90 percent, which is good, especially compared to states in the west where you wait years for a tag. Mike mentioned group permits and there is a strategy involved and we would be glad to coach you on that. Love to talk to you more and Levi can share data.

Grant Corley, Westphalia – Too many deer also. Fixing fences daily. Sister has 80 acres, had a deer walk first weekend and walked 35 deer out of that 80 acres and know some probably went out the north side that we did not see. Have out-of-state hunters who would be willing to buy a doe tag. When a hunter comes in he has to stay somewhere, eat somewhere and buy fuel, and Kansas should have some of that money. Secretary Loveless – We have been talking about offering nonresidents a doe tag. Tried to summarize conversation for one of our legislators, what I heard was that in our experience there is low demand for nonresidents to just to shoot a doe, want to hunt trophy bucks, can count number of nonresidents on one hand that will come just for a doe, as far as requests we see.

Wes Troll, Richmond (did not sign roster) – Before this meeting, I spent third day today fixing electric fence, no deer shortage. Disagree with nonresidents not having interest. I go to Texas to hunt antlerless axis deer. Comment on group permit, excellent job describing that permit, wish do as well in publication. Makes no mention of fact that individual with least opportunity to draw the tag is chosen to represent the group, that is misleading. There have been several cases where father and son apply, one would draw, and one wouldn't, and they have asked if they could come hunt a doe. In current situation you give that doe tag away, human nature is you only covet items

you value and there is no value to that individual. If individual, for example, drew tag in Kansas and had someone who wanted to come with me that didn't draw, if they could purchase a doe tag over-the-counter, it would allow them to come and enjoy the resource and spend dollars in rural communities. Rural Kansas not doing well. In my opinion, department doesn't manage deer herd, using nonresident tags as an opportunity to manage access. If deny individuals who have a lease don't draw, discourages them from making transaction; think department feels that if we discourage a nonresident from access to property that will encourage resident. Bank doesn't care if I offer opportunity to residents, they want their money. If resident wants to lease from me we can come to an agreement. Limiting economic opportunity for landowner to realize full value of his property. Not a biologist or deer expert, but I know my ground. Current system limits my ability to properly manage that ground. Under-valuing doe tags, there is a demand and you should make it available. Everyone talks about North American model of wildlife management, the bible in this profession, but pick and choose what that model says. Mr. Leopold talked about value of private property to further wildlife, ignore those statements. Theodore Roosevelt made the same statement. The value of private property is future and value of wildlife in this country, especially in state with 98 percent private ownership. Be as clear in rules in regulations in stating issues on group permit as you were at this meeting.

Adrian Johnson, Westphalia (*did not sign roster*) – Pay \$130 a year to try and help control the deer. Have lease ground by us where they will kill trophy buck or nothing. If tag goes up any more will go back to the way we used to control the, set deer stands and take care of it when they come to eat.

Dean Klahr, Kansas Livestock Association – Spent a lot of time wanting transferable permits. Echo what has been said, like to see option for doe tags for nonresidents. Majority come for trophy buck but have a lot of members and landowners in the state who have developed a business model where their operation depends on income from fee hunting opportunities; doe tag would allow relationship to be sustained. Chairman Lauber – A nonresident can obtain a doe tag now but need buck tag first. You are recommending, if unsuccessful in drawing buck tag could get doe tag in areas where you feel we have too many deer? Klahr – Yes sir. Secretary Loveless - That was what our discussion has been, how that would work, and pros and cons. Appreciate comments. One of the concerns we have is how to enforce regulations; challenge in groups, even if you don't have buck tag you can bag it and someone else will tag it, something we are trying to avoid. Concerned about how we manage that, if insight into that love to hear it. Anyone can hunt in late season, which may not coincide when friends coming in for another deer season. Clarity and good coaching in application process for group permits is important. Troll – The logic you just issued; give me your car keys because I know you are going to violate a traffic law. Yes, there will be violations, but can't manage resource because a violation might occur. Secretary Loveless – That is not it, we are trying to make good prudent decisions to allow law enforcement folks to be successful, a daunting task if you look at our regulations with different kinds of permits they have to manage, trying to do a good job and be fair to folks we are trying to encourage to be out there. We want to be wise in regulations we put out forth to give them the best chance to be fair. We get a lot of complaints from people who say folks are breaking the law and ask us to do something about it, so sensitive about that too. Trying to make regulations that are clear, enforceable and fair, understand not 100 percent. Troll – Not fair to say you will not have doe permits available because they will party hunt and violate. Chairman Lauber – They

may be doing that already. Secretary Loveless – Larger conversation, glad to have it and we do want to encourage nonresidents to come in. Troll – We have been having this conversation for 20 years. Secretary Loveless – Hopefully we can come to resolution. We can talk at break to be able to get more of your experience; trying to get the best information we can. Improve over time with your good input. Chairman Lauber – Meeting today with a lot of deer, but when meeting in other areas of state deer are declining, so social issues differ. Have tremendous number of constituents who will vote and push the legislature because they don't have a place to hunt anymore, nothing we can do because 98 percent private ground. Not universally popular to have a lease. Not all just based on nonresidents, about half of ground leased is leased by residents. Two sides the commission and agency has to deal with, and we pay attention to both sides. Klahr – Thank you for your time, continue relationship to allow some sort of option for landowners.

Assistant Secretary Miller – You mentioned the \$25 application fee they don't get refunded. We have a full licensing staff at Pratt, and they spent almost the whole month of April on the phone with nonresident deer applicants; and they do explain buddy permits that way, maybe not explained in print as well as it should be, and I apologize for that. It is changing, not the same since new permit system went into place, demand for nonresident deer permits has increased in this part of the state over the last two years, I don't know if we could have predicted that, so seeing hunters suddenly not drawing permits, don't know if shifting from one part of the state to another, but did see more nonresident applications than we ever have. Demand has increased, more in this area. Troll – I remember sitting in a meeting when you did away with transferable permits; statement was made that the department would take a five-year study of nonresident applications that would form a base number which could be increased or decreased by 50 percent based on deer populations. We haven't seen that flexibility in numbers, is that policy still being followed? Chairman Lauber – At one point had maximum limit of 15- or 16-percent. Troll – Policy was for this department to break away number from resident population. Chairman Lauber – I think that is the case. Assistant Secretary Miller – Yes, at just over 22,000 nonresident permits available in the draw; when we started it was about 18,000. This is the first year with no leftovers. We were looking at meeting demand, seven adjustment factors to set permit numbers. One of the concerns was resident opportunities, seen marked decrease in resident deer hunters in last five years, a lot contributed to difficulty in getting access. No one thing affects that. When talking about deer population control love to have you bring out a bunch of kids from town to shoot does. You can get up to five doe permits in this area. Tools are in place as well as depredation permits from district biologist. Troll – Depredation permits have to be used by a resident. Assistant Secretary Miller - You can designate someone outside of the hunting season, we want you to allow hunting to control deer that is our first option. Once you start having a serious deer problem we can help you reduce deer numbers. David Lauber - On those tags, do you leave the deer lay or utilize? Assistant Secretary Miller - You can utilize the deer if you want, years ago you were supposed to leave them lay. Troll – On an annual basis how much does the department refund to nonresidents? Assistant Secretary Miller – We had 24,000 applications, refunded about 2,000 permits. Troll – About \$500 per permit. Basic economics says that money hits economic system at a velocity of four, so if we took one individual who didn't get their tag, refunded \$500, that mean local economy taking hit of \$2,000; talking probably \$5- to \$6-million out on an annual basis. Assistant Secretary Miller – We still have same number of deer permits available in these units even though some hunters you know didn't draw so same number of hunters are still coming here to hunt and still spending money locally. If we manage wildlife

strictly on basis of economics that would be a disaster; somebody said your deer were getting smaller and younger and that may mean we are harvesting too many mature bucks. David Lauber – We have too many does and are overpopulating, rut used to be done by time rifle season started now breeding season is going longer and we are seeing fawns in summer. Known fact that if you overpopulate, like Texas did several years ago, deer get smaller. I used to train dogs and go to field trials in Texas and the deer were small. Ashamed that seeing deer in Kansas the same size as those guys are bragging about in Texas, it is a population issue, not shooting a buck issue. Chairman Lauber – If control deer, have to harvest does. One possible suggestion was to allow people who applied and were unsuccessful in getting a buck permit as a nonresident that denial would allow antlerless permit; we should consider that. This is a complicated matter, appreciate your sentiment and honesty. Thanks for coming forward and giving us your thoughts. Heard a lot of comments, agree with some and don't agree with every solution, there are lots of ways to get it done.

Adrian Johnson – Adjoining out-of-state hunters have shot one doe in six or seven years, if no trophy buck they go home with nothing. On another neighbor they didn't hunt, have a 50-bushel feeder out there for deer, saw 21 deer in one evening.

Grant Corley – Have one farm quarter section, with wild pig damage. Have problem developing, at least two known wild pigs in our area. I know you don't have anything to say about that but that is something we don't need in this state. I hunt wild pigs in Oklahoma, fun but they destroy a lot. Chairman Lauber – Kansas doing good job in managing increase in wild pigs and one of the ways we do that is we don't allow recreational hog hunting because the people start bringing them in. Human assistance is why they are here. If you have evidence of wild pigs let your game warden know and we will do everything we can to minimize their growth. Corley – I contacted some people and told to contact the Livestock Association, they brought a trap and caught him, and it got out. There are hard to control, knew in area but as far as I know I was the only one who actually saw it.

VI. DEPARTMENT REPORT

A. Secretary's Remarks

1. Agency and State Status Report – Brad Loveless, Secretary, presented this update to the Commission – Fiscal status, completed submitting 2021 budget, state budget has been recommended approved, but no response yet, coming soon and will find out where we stand. The only adjustment made was on supplemental on moving law enforcement from KPERS to KP&F retirement, governor agreed but legislature requested that we remove it from her budget because not approved by legislature yet, after review then it will be added back into the budget. EDIF apportionment will the same as in the past, just over \$5 million; spread between administration, parks and tourism. Hold budget static from FY 2020 to 2021. Question is the need to address flooding issues; water was down in December, our projection, trying to quantify, revenue down \$1.3 million. The big hit was maintenance, gravel, rip-rap, asphalt roads and parking areas we knew would suffer, projected cost to restore those is \$9.7 million. Wrote up for governor and legislature in three buckets, what we would do right now, orders for docks, etc. that would take us six months to do and finally those things we don't feel we can get to until next summer and

fall. Priority is to have things ready for people to come back in the spring. So have a plan but don't have those monies to spend on this. Not sure how money will come in and what we can do first, second and third. Cabin revenue for the year was down 16 percent from previous year; wildlife fee fund is up 2.3 percent, balance end of December only off by a couple of hundred thousand, about \$14.7 million. Almost entirely funded by sports men and women's dollars and licenses that leverage federal tax monies. Pittman Robertson (PR) funds are down 15 percent next year as result of lower sales of those outdoor items. Dingell Johnson (DJ) is up three percent. Chairman Lauber – That money can't be used to fix our parks, have to be used for purpose of the PR and DJ Acts. Revenue during Obama years made more money on sales of guns, down now and not as much money. Secretary Loveless – This is Law Enforcement Appreciation Day, have a number of officers here, core under Colonel Jason Ott in law enforcement and others in in parks and public lands. Appreciate them (applause). Update on buck poached in Osage County in 2011 from a roadside and has become controversial. Have a neighbor who claimed buck should be his. My goal has been to get us past that issue, last night at 5:00 we met and adjacent landowner bid \$16,001 for that deer head and we gave him the head, hopefully that will allow the department to move on. In all the dialog around that we lost a key issue, poaching is a big problem in Kansas, it is criminal activity, involves wasting of wildlife and deprives individuals of a wonderful opportunity to trace these animals. The money will go into account to incentivize people to report issues to Operation Gamethief, hope it goes to a good cause. Commissioner Gfeller – It is a reward fund? Secretary Loveless – Exactly right. We hope it goes to a good cause and we can work our way past this. I am leaving at break, have a meeting in California I need to go to.

2. 2020 Legislature – Chris Tymeson, chief legal counsel, presented this update to the Commission – Starts Monday, second year of two-year cycle and an election cycle. There are several political things going on at state level, like Medicaid expansion and others, may help session go along easier. Also, budget issues, rift in one of other branches of government, so broader issues may slow our process down. Five initiatives: Kansas Police and Fire (KP&F) retirement, which Secretary referenced, for law enforcement officers, last year passed out of committee and languished on House floor where it didn't make the procedural deadlines and was stricken from the calendar; we are going to reintroduce it this year. Dynamic pricing for cabins and campsites, around for four years now and last year it made it three quarters of the way through the process and is in House appropriations, did not meet the deadlines; working on that again. We have fee caps, many of our fees are capped in statute and you set fees by regulation based on recommendations of the department; only two fee increases in last 20 years 2002 and 2015; eventually the caps will have to be raised in order to leverage federal dollars as well as continue operations at the same level. Proposed two years ago, no hearing last year, discussions in committee on Wednesday. Fourth area is land acquisition, there is a piece of property we are attempting to purchase, waiting on a legal description, it adjoins Kingman Wildlife Area. Three years ago, we introduced a bill to purchase a piece of property that Ducks Unlimited owns, bringing back this year with some compromises and discussions; essentially Ducks Unlimited is doing a swap with a neighbor and we will end up with a slightly different piece of property than two years ago. Personal floatation devices, nomenclature change to statute first than will filter down into regulation changes. Likely anti-poaching bill, in draft I saw would provide restitution to landowners of half of the amount of value of animals; also heard talk of other deer items like unlimited nonresident and transferable tags. Chairman Lauber – Nothing pre-filed that we have

an interest in? Tymeson – Nothing that impacts what we normally put on the website; tracking 120 bills, by end of session 160 or so. None that would impact constituents directly have been pre-filed. There is one that would impact the regulatory process that I have concerns about. Chairman Lauber – Objection to retirement plan we tried to get through? Tymeson – Strategically we are a fee-funded agency so it would come out of our budget and we have planned for that. There are a couple of other issues that deal with KP&F retirement; another cabinet level agency wants to be part of it but is a funded by the State General Fund and that causes difficulty. Local correction entities want to enter into KP&F as well, which muddies the water. If it was us alone it should pass but add those other things and it makes it more difficult. Secretary Loveless – Want legislature to take each of those cases on their own merit; we have a strong case for representing our law enforcement folks. Commissioner Rider – Transferable deer bill done? It was gutted last year. Tymeson - The way the process worked, bill was introduced and passed through the House by one vote, made it to Senate and they did a gut-and-go where they put contents of another topic in that shell bill, so no longer a deer bill, now hemp bill, which passed and was signed by the governor; so that topic is dead. Would have to come back as a new bill.

Secretary Loveless – Forgot to mention on recovering parks damage, submitting all of that to FEMA, slow process, FEMA representatives have not looked at all of those locations, but quantifying all of that and will submit in counties where that is an option. Typically get about 75 percent or less than requested.

B. General Discussion

1. Commissioner Permit Update and Drawing – Mike Miller, chief of Information assistant secretary, presented this update to the Commission (Exhibit D). Started in 2006. Started drawing for conservation organizations operating in Kansas are eligible. Nonprofit......These would be drawn by conservation organizations to auction off a big game permit and then that money would be used for a mutually agreed upon conservation project. It started out slow with 59 applications in 2006, but elk permit went high and they did sell permits for about \$49,000. Each year it has grown a little. The conservation organizations have to be nonprofit based or operating in Kansas and actively promote wildlife conservation and hunting and fishing heritage. Each chapter is eligible to win one of these permits once in three-year period. They sell to highest bidder and take 15 percent and we subtract the amount of the permit out of that remaining fee and they submit that to us. We agree on a conservation project and the money goes back to them to complete that project. Sometimes a Ducks Unlimited chapter may put that money back into Bringing Back the Bottoms or a Pheasants Forever chapter might donate back to a pheasant initiative project. There are a variety of projects they use money for; some has been for youth recruitment programs, youth hunts or sport shooting events and things like that. Over the years it has been highly successful. As you see in the briefing item we raised nearly \$597,000 for conservation over the years. It can be seven deer permits or five deer permits, an elk and an antelope permit. They make a choice when they apply. It has been mostly deer that they have preferred; it is any deer, statewide, any season with legal equipment for that season. We still receive some applications for elk and would have to go to Fort Riley area to utilize that. Chairman Lauber – It is the only way you can get two antlered permits? Miller – Correct, it does not count against any of your other permits, so if you drew a tag or bought a tag and bought one

of these, you could have two antlered permits. We had 210 eligible applications this year. Chairman Lauber – Did any of them request elk? Sheila Kemmis – Yes, some of them did; most listed deer as their first choice.

Drawing Winners (Exhibit):

Commissioner Emerick Cross – (1) – #210, DU Cheyenne Bottoms #7 (deer)

Commissioner Warren Gfeller – (2) – #78 DU Prairie Dog #51 (deer)

Commissioner Gary Hayzlett – (3) – #166, PF North Fork Tailgunners #502 (deer)

Chairman Gerald Lauber – (4) – #198, DU Topeka #6 (deer)

Commissioner Aaron Rider – (5) – #107, DU Kiowa County #155 (deer)

Commissioner Lauren Queal Sill – (6) – #205, DU St. Paul #93 (deer)

Commissioner Troy Sporer – (7) – #207, DU Woodson County #152 (deer) (mistakenly said Wyandotte County during the meeting, Wyandotte was number 208)

2. Boating Educator of the Year Award Presentation – Dan Hesket, Law Enforcement Division Major, presented this award (Exhibit E). Created in 2011, the National Association of State Boating Law Administrator (NASBLA) along with Boaterexamine.com announced the Boating Educator of the Year Award. The award is designed to recognize those in boating education who go above and beyond to engage students and boaters, raise awareness, and make boating education initiatives relevant, thorough and exciting. Nominations for this award must be submitted electronically by a boating law administer through the members on the NASBLA website. Boating law administrators should nominate candidates who have made an outstanding contribution to boating safety through education. Educators and volunteers from state and local agencies and from nonprofit organizations are eligible. Three regional finalists will be chosen and win a paid trip to the NASBLA annual conference where the national winner will be chosen and announced during the awards ceremony. According to John Johnson, NASBLA director, the role boating educators play in recreational safety is clear and they should be recognized. NASBLA will recognize those that are making a noticeable effort to increase boating safety awareness and reduce accident injury and death on the water through education. Officer Jesse Gehrt was nominated by the Region 2 Law Enforcement Division as the regional boating educator of the year; it was reviewed and submitted with a few additions to the western states Boating Administrator's Association where officer Gehrt was announced as the regional winner. As regional winner NASBLA paid for him to attend the annual conference held in Anchorage, Alaska and was recognized in front of his peers. Winners of the northern and southern states were also present and officer Gehrt was awarded the national award, a prestigious award that encompasses state, federal and private entities across the states and six territories. Congratulations. Captain Melson will read the nomination.

Captain Dan Melson - Lieutenant Jesse Gehrt was acknowledged for his efforts to recreational boating safety and was selected as the Boating Educator of the Year for the Western Association of Boating Law Administrators after being selected as the department's boating educator of the year. Jesse became one of three finalists for the Boating Educator of the Year award for the National Association of Boating Law Administrators and was announced as the recipient of that award during the NASBLA fall conference held in Anchorage, Alaska. Lt. Gehrt's nomination included many accomplishments toward promoting recreational boating safety. A few of the highlights of his nomination included the statistic of Milford Reservoir, which was claiming one to three drownings per year, mainly Fort Riley soldiers. During the 12 years that Lt. Gehrt

worked on Milford and his efforts to incorporate boating safety classes at the Fort Riley Military Base and the military's marina, there has been three drownings within the 12 years. Lt. Gehrt also coordinated efforts with K-State to include the Kansas Recreational Boating Safety class into a curriculum for college credit and Lt. Gehrt teaches the laws and regulation portion of the class. Lt. Gehrt is also sought after for his instruction for the department's law enforcement staff and other agencies. He teaches water safety survival, field sobriety, seated battery instruction and is a boating safety instructor. The boating safety educator of the year award was launched by NASBLA in 2011 to recognize those who go above and beyond to encourage students and boaters, to raise awareness and make boating education initiatives relevant and exciting. Congratulations. (presented award and took photos)

Dan Hesket – We rank in middle of all states in number of registered boaters in the bodies of water we have. In the last four years we have had two national award winners and a regional winner so our state is well represented on national level, which is something we should take pride in.

3. National Bobwhite Conservation Initiative Fire Bird Conservation Award Presentation – Jason Deal, Public Lands, presented this award. The Fire Bird award was established by National Bobwhite Conservation Initiative to allow state quail coordinators the opportunity to recognize an individual, a group or an entity that has made a significant contribution to bobwhite quail restoration in their state over the past year. John Johnson has been the manager at Woodson Wildlife Area since 2012. Since that time John has implemented many quail-friendly practices and habitat improvements on the 3,000 acre area, including oak savanna restoration, invasive tree removal, spring/summer/fall burning rotations and patch burn grazing rotations. John has monitored impacts from grazing regimes by utilizing exclusion devices and established contracts to document and quantify plant diversity changes based on these regimes. He has also established a fall covey count to survey and monitor responses in the population. He researches and obtains equipment to assist in improving efficiency and effectiveness while implementing habitat actions. Multiple presentations have been provided to department personnel, private landowners, noxious weed directors and academia. This has been well received by local ranchers and has influenced their management to adopt more quail and wildlife-friendly practices. He has done this by showing it actually improves the producers' bottom line. By influencing the local community, it has expanded the footprint of management beyond the wildlife area. John is deserving of recognition for positive changes in landscape habitat and community attitudes. It is for these reasons we are pleased to present Public Lands manager John Johnson with the 2019 Fire Bird Conservation Award. (presented award and

Chairman Lauber – I and my cousins have land near Woodson Wildlife Area, not only has John worked tirelessly to keep the property in pristine condition, he has established a rapport with locals and wildlife and parks is considered a good neighbor. Congratulations.

Break

Chairman Lauber – This year there was a tremendous crappie harvest at Pomona lake, a 50-fish lake. Based on the size the number of boats, they have been hammered this yea. I've been contacted by local anglers to make it a 20-fish limit lake. In my opinion limits make you feel better than do good but that is important, too. Last time with this much harvest was at Glen

Elder, made a limit there. Pomona has dropped 10-inch minimum because short fish were being discharged through the dam and spillway. A lot of 12-inch-plus fish being caught. Doug, I would like you to talk to local biologists and law enforcement. Don't know if we have commercial black market fish sale going on but talk to appropriate people to get traction on that. Doug Nygren – We can do that. Chairman Lauber – Byproduct of terrible summer of fishing because the water was high. Assume a lot of young of the year that grew fast so a lot to eat. Now that water has settled back down it seems to be good in a lot of different lakes. Doug Nygren – Putting article in magazine on prospects for next year with key look at what floods did to fishing for the past year; Jeff Koch, research biologist at Emporia, is authoring that, probably news release as well. There is great fishing ahead of us. High water kept people off the lakes, so fish carried over as they were not harvested and had tremendous reproduction, a positive story but did lose some fish flushing over the dam. When we get fantastic fishing reports, people think others take more fish than they deserve so not surprised by concerns you are hearing. The good news there are a lot of fish out there. Up to us to come up with right strategies to make this last as long as we can.

4. Walleye Telemetry Study at Glen Elder Reservoir – Scott Waters, district fisheries biologist, presented this update to the Commission (PowerPoint - Exhibit F). Several years ago, we introduced the Kansas Walleye Initiative, and this study is a byproduct of that initiative. Part of that was that we altered many length and creel limits on reservoirs and state fishing lakes. P\I proposed new regulation at Glen Elder - an 18- to 24-inch seasonal length limit but after looking into that, I decided my estimates on mortality needed to be revamped, so I rescinded the length limit proposal and began looking at mortality rates. Worked with Emporia folks and did research grant, a voluntary addition to our regular duties and I have been wanting to work on telemetry since I have been here. There is a telemetry-based mortality estimation model that works well in these types of waters. I was able to combine the need to look at mortality of walleye with this new telemetry project. Besides getting mortality rate, we're getting a lot more information from this project. It is a three-year project that started in November 2018. Four objectives to the study include, primarily to look at mortality rates, but also look at sources of mortality, when mortality is occurring and what is affecting mortality. For instance, this year it was high water. Locating fish, looking at individual fish and tracking movements, look at habitat preferences and home ranges, all kinds of different factors. Looking at movements and how they relate to different factors; when I locate a walleye, I want to be able to explain why it is there in that spot, pinpoint what walleye are looking for in reservoirs. In addition, doing creel surveys; last year and this year, in conjunction with telemetry to try and explain angler fishing patterns and harvest rates, coinciding with what I am seeing in tagged fish. Capture/recapture, anytime we are tracking we have "x" number of fish in the population and we go out and find 90 percent of those fish. In between each tracking location, this helps us estimate mortality rates; between fish being caught, dying of natural mortality, or fish lost to flooding releases. This model is more in-depth. I can look at daily mortality rates, monthly or annual rates and look at different causes. I did my master's research in Puerto Rico studying largemouth bass, which was the first time I was exposed to this model. We tagged 50 fish over a two-year period, 100 total and came up with mortality estimates. I found out the largemouth were spawning six months out of the year, between January and June; only lived to be two to three years old and died of natural mortality; they had high harvest restrictions with and more consumptive resource. Altered length and creel limits and allowed more harvest. In Roanoke Reservoir in Virginia we looked at mortality rates

of striped bass. I worked on another mortality project in North Carolina on striped bass. Even in coastal areas. Applying that same model and procedure here; it can be applied to different water bodies and impoundments. Excited to do it here in Kansas. When I talk about walleye habitat most of you have a general idea about what we are talking about but there is a list of variables I can collect during the study. When I locate an individual fish, I collect a GPS location, depth of water fish is in, water temperature and dissolved oxygen levels. Then I can go back using GIS to map coordinates and I can calculate average distance from shore, which varies throughout the year. Microspatial habitat selection, why is fish selecting that spot. Look at distance and how far down or up the lake they are; what substrates are they selecting and location relative to where food is or another reason. What is average home range size, males to females or older fish to younger fish and get better idea of spawning behavior of walleye; many questions to answer. When you think of telemetry you think of holding up an antenna and tracking an animal, even fish can be tracked with radio telemetry. Because of depth of Glen Elder, radio signals don't travel very far so I selected ultrasonic telemetry which has a hydrophone. You have to put it in the water and listen for the fish and rotate to the direction the signal is coming from. The bad thing about it is you also hear everyone's depth finders, so it's nice to go out when there's not as much fishing pressure. Use 36-month tags to track fish so can check patterns year to year as the fish grow. They weigh 17 grams and there is a rule that you can't put a transmitter on a fish that weighs more than two percent of body weight of fish, so that limits me to about 1.8 pound walleye and bigger. I can hear them up to about a kilometer away. On a lake like Glen Elder, which is 12,500 acres, we spend a lot of time to search looking for fish. We have individual frequencies and codes for each fish. Planting the transmitters is a lot of the fun doing this project, doing the surgery on the fish; we do them on boat ramp or tailgate of a truck; we put an antiesthetic in the water and knock them out which makes them easier to work on; give them a shot of OTC, an internal antibiotic, we want to be sure the fish doesn't die from the surgery; use iodine solution before we start the surgery, usually make a one-inch incision, sometimes 1½inch, put transmitter inside the fish and sew them back up with about three sutures and superglue, which seals wound shut. No surgery related fatalities out of 67 so far. Have \$100 reward tags to get anglers attention and get them to turn in the tagged fish, not 100 percent reporting rate, but from what I have heard everyone so far has turned in tagged fish. Within 2-3 weeks after surgery fish resume normal behavior. I mentioned 1.8 pounds is limit of fish we can tag; Glen Elder currently 18-inch minimum so not every fish we tagged was legal fish; probably all legal now. Get a lot of fish at length limit and they drop off quickly once anglers start harvesting them; had a couple of 26-inch walleye so I was excited to see what their behavior patterns were and if they were any different than typical Glen Elder walleye. We were flooded, got to about 11 feet high, which made tracking more difficult, interesting to see where fish would go during high water periods. In November 2018 we tagged 27 walleye and in April the last 33, so 60 tagged total; anglers started returning tags, so we immediately put seven of them back out; 12 of 67, 18 percent harvested so far. Fishing pressure less with flooding, boat ramps closed much of the year. One of 67 died of natural mortality, 12 fish we haven't been able to locate in the last 7-8 months and we think they were lost due to migration we think with outflows. Monthly, from November 2018 when we tagged them to December 2019; it is seasonal, one fish caught during spawn, low mortality. May is busiest month for harvest, flood happened after that and dropped off. We had a lot of fishing pressure in the fall, but no fish were turned in. The first fish was caught in April 2019, last fish turned in was the end of July; tracked last fish in December. Average depth of walleye located, fish spend the winter in deeper water, come up to shallower water during the

spawn, move deeper to rest and recover and spent the summer going shallower. In the middle of August, the water temperature is in the mid-80s and the fish average about 12 feet of water, but that could be because we had flooded conditions; obviously related to feeding as there are a lot of shad in that shallower water; then moved deeper for the winter; a pattern. After all of the fish were tagged and in the water did a map with where they all were located; map does not show bottom contour, or the river channel, eventually plan to map on better maps. At one point half of the fish tagged hung out in one area. Pulled a couple of tagged fish, one 19-inch female; male did the same thing. Tagged one of bigger females in April, never found for four months, then September 21 showed up again; probably went up the river channel farther than we were looking; maybe a survival tool as the fish is probably 7-8 years old. Future direction, track monthly in winter, every other week in summer and spring; plan to retag 11 fish in April to get sample size back up to around 60; track more in spawning; collect more on oxygen profiles to see if concentrating in certain areas because of higher oxygen levels; did some 24-hour tracking, selected 4-5 fish and tracked every two hours or so, got daily movements done to see what they are doing throughout the day, plan to do more of that; improve mapping; and look at home ranges. Presented this at division meeting and asked for ideas and got a lot of directions to go with this study. Secretary Miller – Help with this? Waters – Yes, had a lot of help tracking from seasonal undergrad students. Charlie Black, Kansas Wildscape – If this turns out to be revealing are you going to implement at other lakes? Waters – Up to individual biologists. A lot of mortality rates and information I get from this will apply to other reservoirs with similar conditions. Reason to do another species later, looking forward to that.

5. <u>Use of Thermal Imaging and Night Vision Equipment</u> – Matt Peek, biologist, presented this update to the Commission (Exhibit G). Here to discuss the use of lights and thermal imaging in night hunting. The regulation applicable to this is 115-5-1, furbearers and coyotes; legal equipment, taking methods, and general provisions. The part of the regulation provided allows the use of scopes that do not project light or amplify light in current coyote and furbearer activities. There are no shooting hours that apply to coyotes and furbearers so you can currently use scoped equipment at night but can't use lights and thermal imaging equipment or night vision. Both the department and the commission have received numerous requests and inquiries over the last several years about the use of lights, night vision and thermal imaging equipment for hunting predators, primarily coyotes. At the last commission meeting there was a request for clarification on use of thermal imaging for coyote by individuals who have an Animal Damage Control (ADC) permit. The commission asked the department to present on this subject and after internal discussions. Staff have provided a list of items for public input and guidance from the commission. Significant initial consideration may be whether the objective of allowing this equipment is to provide additional recreational opportunity or provide population or damage control for covotes; past requests and discussion decided the need to control damage from coyotes. If that is the motive to allow this equipment you should be aware the ADC permittees can already use this equipment if licensed and dealing with cases of damage. The man at the last commission meeting, who has an NADC permit can currently use night vision and those types of equipment we are talking about today. Landowners, tenants or property owners can also already use this equipment as per a state law that broadly allows landowners and legal occupants to protect their property from wildlife damage. Recreational spotlighting says you can't spotlight while in possession of weapons or equipment; it should say an exemption to state law K.S.A. 32-1002 that allows landowners the ability to protect their property. In general, if a landowner has

damage there are legal avenues right now for them to use this equipment. Some have suggested this equipment could be effective at controlling coyote populations, not related to private property damage, just to bring the coyote population down. I provided a handout (Exhibit H) showing current coyote harvest over the last ten years, averaged about 100,000 per year and is slightly increasing. I have 24 years of data primarily gathered from the small game harvest survey. It also shows that the population has increased over time two-, three-, possibly four-fold; a lot of things went on during that time that were beneficial to coyotes, one of which is implementation of CRP program. Roadside survey started the year after CRP was put on the ground. It is safe to say the population has increased in spite of an annual harvest of over 90,000 and more recently 100,000 per year. The question is how many coyotes would have to be harvested by the ability to use this new method to stabilize or control the population; don't know answer to that but it seems unlikely, considering the fact of what is already allowed to kill coyotes, you can trap, hunt with dogs, predator call, hunt year around, hunt at night without light, chase with vehicles so a lot of other techniques already established. It's unlikely addition of night hunting with lights will increase the harvest of coyotes by more than a couple of percent. I don't think this will be a significant factor in population control either. Where we do think the potential value lies is to do this as a recreational opportunity, which is where most of the requests are. Consider this and weigh pros and cons relative to value as recreational activity. Whether or not it is fair chase to employ technology that allows significant advantage that outweighs wildlife's ability to naturally detect and avoid predators; the answer may be different by different types of lights you might consider.

What equipment should be legal? There is interest in red light, spotlight, night vision and thermal imaging. How should equipment be employed? For example, gun mounted, or vehicle mounted; also talk about the weapons themselves like shotgun only, caliber restrictions for rifle, or rimfire/centerfire. Also need to give consideration to what species, coyotes only, some furbearers, or all furbearers. Some states restrict this to private land use only, might be consideration to whether we want to allow this on public land; also, roadways are another sensitive area that we may or may not want to allow. Hunting methods are another consideration, from a vehicle, on foot only, perhaps specified distance from vehicle/road, also some state differentiate on whether you have to be stationary calling versus some type of mobile shining. We have also given consideration to various season dates, year-round, also expressed concern about allowing during any deer season, perhaps a compromise might be to open January 1 and end March 31. Some states restrict who can hunt, if allow on private land only they might restrict to landowners or their guests, perhaps those with written permission; or people with a special permit; may establish a night hunting permit as requested, a way to keep track of how many people are doing it. There are a series of special restrictions that could be considered to better allow us to monitor who is doing it, one would be requiring electronic check-in, like iSportsman, one state requires call-in with local sheriff's department, or written permission may be required. Poaching enforcement concerns have been the main reason we have held back on this issue. I provided a list of other state regulations on second page so you can see diversity of what other states in the Midwest have done to make this palatable. Commissioner Rider – Does landowner controlling damage need a special permit? Peek – No, state law allows them to protect their property, doesn't require any special license. It does say they can't keep the wildlife they kill. Commissioner Gfeller – Have you visited with any other states that allow this and have some sense of what kind of issues they have experienced? Peek – My counterparts, the furbearer biologists of the Midwest have not had issues with it. I know Jason in law enforcement may have

a little different perspective, he mentioned an issue or two in Texas. I don't know that it winds up getting used as widely as you would expect. Commissioner Gfeller – Safety issue? Raise cattle and have quite a few coyotes and we have only one documented coyote death, so not that concerned about coyote population. If you allow hunting at night, even if I don't allow on my own land but the neighbors do, when calving out at night, is there an issue of safety and errant shots? Peek – Instances are rare, as far as I have gathered. Same as daytime hunting, or dawn or dusk or somebody hunting at night without a light, which they can currently legally do. Safety concerns expressed I don't believe are an issue in other states, just as safe as any other hunting types allowed. Commissioner Gfeller – Are there more incidents of people hunting on land without permission, more tendency at night? Peek – Not that I have heard. Same can be said of coon hunter or coyote hunters who can already currently hunt at night. Heard these concerns, possible but not being reported, not so common that other states are curtailing this type of hunting. Commissioner Gfeller – How big is the demand? Chairman Lauber – Demand is growing, requests more frequent and louder. Concern of certain legislator introducing this, he is not our friend. Commissioner Gfeller – What is his motivation or interest? Chairman Lauber – Hard to explain but probably commercial or revenue. Look at this as recreational perspective, on our terms, probably done anyway on terms we may not be able to manage. Like to have night vision and thermal imaging, primary new equipment, lawful method of take and not have lawful during primary deer season and include all furbearers during their appropriate seasons. If start to restrict on front end, bogged down on restrictions and impatience from legislature. Pass and as we have incidents and unintended consequences, deal with them as they come up. Don't know if additional safety factor. One constituent has contacted me and wants us to be technical on definition, projects no visible light towards the target, thermal imaging is permitted if you took the narrow definition of that part that we put in our publication. I don't know if intent of regulation is to prevent this type of activity. He sells these products. Chris says no and pretty sure intent is not there. Opinion of law enforcement and I had. I would have lawful with control and tweak as it comes up. Commissioner Gfeller - I would like more discussion and to hear from law enforcement. Only thing shot on my ranch with spotlights are my cows so having more people out there with spotlights doesn't really excite me. Interested in input from the public and department; needs more study. Hate the idea we might be getting railroaded, willing to hear more. Chairman Lauber – Response I heard on where we were at, since not elected it takes a long time, workshop twice so looking at four months before we can vote, maybe more. We have six months of discussion before it might be passed. Not including spotlighting as lawful means of take, only night vision and infrared. If we ask law enforcement, we have a little more opportunity, why hesitant is because they would be out there at night, harder for them to deal with. If we don't deal with this type of hunting we could have it anyway. Secretary Loveless – Important to understand demand, survey from other states, is it your sense that it increases initially then levels off? Peek – Don't know if they survey how many people are out there doing that. I do know a lot of people in Kansas are asking for it. Secretary Loveless – Data available? Peek – I recall talking to some of them who said they don't differentiate in their surveys, not sure if anybody is. I can check. Secretary Loveless – Is this something, because of expense or specialty of it, if there is small community of potential users and never expands beyond that. Commissioner Gfeller – I'd like to hear more about potential demand. Hear more about fair chase aspect and hear from law enforcement, that might add another 12 hours to their day, so it is a burden in some fashion. Jason Ott – Had meeting internally that I participated in and polled my command staff; our opinion stays about the same, we have concern is resources, not a lot of

game wardens state wide, now if there is a gunshot coupled with a spotlighting call, that probably means the game warden needs to go find that. We legalize another version of that in some form is that something we can justify going out. We may go out and pursue them and if they are coyote hunting they are fine, but if they have a trophy buck in the back then there is a problem. Our concern comes to resources we have and the conservation of the animals that are pursued. We will work within whatever regulations. Conservation of species, protection of furbearers, fair chase and safety all legitimate concerns we discussed. We will do whatever research you want us to do, we can come up with some other things. I have talked to counterparts in other states and not a lot of big problems out of this; in Texas shooting cattle, leaving them lay and then hunting coyotes around them. Extreme yes, would it happen here, maybe or maybe not. Chairman Lauber – Told people who contacted me, argument earlier was give them your car keys, why should we suffer because of poachers who probably are going to poach anyway. I don't know if it is fair chase. Know that our own statistics, given to unfriendly legislators, they would say coyotes are going up and we need to do something about this; good for Kansas and America and that is what is going to happen. Commissioner Gfeller – Is technology such that you can distinguish what you're are shooting? Ott – It depends on the technology. There are several different generations of night vision, which needs ambient light to work so a lot of times an infrared illuminator attached to scope or projector that produces light for you; as they get newer, technology gets better, they are good but limited by ambient light and range of projector. Thermal technology is outstanding even in broad daylight I can pick sparrows out of the trees at 75 to 100 yards away. One issue we see with that, if sitting on ground calling coyotes, scanning with binoculars and finding what I am looking for, if guy goes out and spends \$4,000 or \$5,000 on a thermal scope or night vision, is he also going to buy the binoculars to go with it to scan or is he scanning through a scope. If he is doing that is he pointing his rifle at where he may or may not want to shoot? The safety issue of knowing your backstop and what is beyond, is it better or worse will depend on the situation or where you are at but does create another hurdle. Commissioner Sill – Ask lots of questions on safety issue and I have a lot of concerns there, but I am concerned about the fair chase piece. We don't ask nearly enough questions about ethical basis of this. I am concerned about the idea of acting on regulations out of fear of the legislature, I don't think that is what we are mandated to do. We need to work wisely, cooperate, but to say something is going to come anyway so therefore we need to do it our way without considering fair chase or ethical basis; what we are instilling in people? If we don't teach fair chase or encourage that aspect of conservation, we are not building a generation that will continue that in the future. We will continue to treat our resources as commodities, not as resources. We will use them for financial gain instead of seeing them for the inherent value they have. Not just look at economics and safety, look at intangibles. Chairman Lauber – I suspect every participant would make a strong argument that it is fair chase. Commissioner Sporer – This type of hunting is legal today with appropriate permits, you can go to the Extension office, take a test that is open book, go to local Wildlife and Parks agent and he will issue you a nuisance animal damage control permit and you can go night hunting, so it is legal. We could just do nothing, the answer to the legislature is that there are already laws in place; whether you can shoot off the road, whether permission or don't have permission, those are in place so don't need to change. Chairman Lauber – That wouldn't solve the demand for recreational opportunity. Commissioner Sporer – You could change the animal control permit to a special permit of some sort; or change legal equipment, include night vision or thermal. Got opportunity to hunt with thermal, using \$7,000

optic, and it is not that easy; not shooting fish in a barrel, the coyotes move, they move around at night just like they do in the day. Only issue I have with changing legal equipment is the huge difference between a \$7,000 thermal and \$700 thermal. Ott – Absolutely. Commissioner Sporer – It is huge, difference in quality of the optics, that is the only real issue I have. Not a big public hunting issue where everyone has access to do this. Chairman Lauber – I agree, make it lawful means of hunting, but not during primary deer season. Commissioner Sporer – The economic impact to Kansas will be nothing. Looked at all people who have nuisance control permit, only 10-15 people hunt covotes with that. Lots of people have permits but it is something to do with pest control, not night vision coyote hunting. Jake George – In total, 250 to 260 permits issued annually, up considerably since folks did realize you could use thermal and infrared optics to take coyotes. We don't specifically ask that question; they are supposed to ask to have it included on the permit itself. We estimate 30- to 35-percent of those 250 permits intend to use it for coyotes. Commissioner Sporer – About 70 people. Those guys who came to Scott City took test and are using it in Kansas now. George – The main difference is it does have to be for damage control purposes. Chairman Lauber – Suggest regulation be proposed and vote it down or not and try to do the best you can and that will give us 4-5 months to gather information. Don't see as much downside risk as getting more people hunting in Kansas. Commissioner Gfeller – I would like to see more people hunt, but just not at night. Need to hear more. Getting demand to get that license but don't have a client, if they have a license for damage control I assume they have to have customers, or their own land, which they can hunt on anyway. Chairman Lauber – Probably just go ask permission. Having animal damage control permits is a funky way to deal with this, think everyone will try to get one and then you have lost control of how many people are actually doing something that the permit says to do. Commissioner Gfeller - Back to fair chase, enforcement issue and demand of department when you have more hunters at night. Poachers out at night already and more lawful hunters at night with this. Don't understand the technology well enough to know whether a calf can look like a coyote at night or with cheaper lens, so safety issues I need to understand better. Chairman Lauber – Suggest Matt come up with something we can vote on in a few months. In meantime have opportunity to debate the issues as they come up. Peek – Law enforcement issues are legitimate, gunshot at night might be legal, good chance now that it is illegal. No way around that. Commissioner Sporer – As simple as changing legal methods? Chairman Lauber – I do. Eliminates neverending discussion on regulations and then let experience in the field determine if we need to reverse ourselves. In a lot stronger position to reverse decision if poaching calls increase or having livestock damage. Change method of take and limit use in regular firearm deer season. Commissioner Sporer – I agree, we have laws in place, daytime laws ally to nighttime, just change method. Chairman Lauber – If you want to shoot a bobcat in legal season you can. Secretary Loveless – Want to be clear and not have customers have to work around the edges. With idea that we change method of take, evaluate that and look at ramifications. This will never be perfect but want to move forward in considered way. Chris Tymeson – Based on date today, earliest to vote is June, which gives two more commission meetings to discuss. Chairman Lauber - Which would make it legal for next fall's hunting season? Tymeson - Right, workshop in March and April and potentially vote in June. Chairman Lauber – Use website to get public comment. Secretary Loveless – Use resources from other states who have experience with this; will make better decision on our part and more rounded conversation. Commissioner Hayzlett – Grandparents, dad and brothers in cattle business and the only cattle shot were shot from the road at night. I did a lot of covote calling on family property at night with telescopes and handheld

call. You knew when coyotes were there in your scope. This new technology, which they are using in Texas, probably wouldn't hear the shot anymore because most of rifles have suppressors. Not doing anything that is detrimental, at least three of my brother's calves have been killed by coyotes this year. Secretary Loveless – Comments on enabling this outside early rifle deer season, does that make sense to you all? Chairman Lauber – Felt during that particular time game wardens are snowed under and gives some relief. Commissioner Hayzlett – I believe it should be illegal during rifle deer season. Secretary Loveless – Wanted to clarify, you all agree that is something we should avoid. Commissioner Sill – I would avoid that even more, from mid-January to early summer. Keep honest people honest.

- 6. <u>115-18-10</u>. Importation and possession of certain wildlife; prohibition, permit requirement, and restrictions – Monk Parakeet – Jake George, Wildlife Division director, presented this update to the Commission (Exhibit I). Contacted by resident of Lawrence asking us to review monk parakeets on the prohibited species list. They were popular pets, especially in the 1950s and 1960s and some states still allow them. After conducting review, basically it is the communal nest building behavior of the birds that makes them such a nuisance and allows them to survive in climates much colder than native Argentina. The communal nests can have 30-40 pairs of birds and weigh upwards of 400 pounds, they are built from sticks. Originally there were some concerns regarding potential for crop damage, there is an issue with that in Argentina. Feral populations have established in about 12 states in the U.S. They adapt in the winter, primarily in cities, likely due to higher incidences of pet releases, but change feeding habitats and use bird feeders. They eat seeds and fruit. In those 12 states, the population in Florida, with milder climate, is increasing exponentially, estimated at over a half million birds and utility companies spend millions of dollars annually in those states in nest removals, they build around transformers or on transmission lines. With that information, we feel it is not appropriate to remove the species from the list. We are not recommending any changes to this regulation at this time.
- 7. 2020-21 Waterfowl Seasons Tom Bidrowski, Migratory Gamebird Program manager, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit J). The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) annually develops frameworks from which states are able to establish migratory game bird hunting seasons. These frameworks establish maximum bag and possession limits, season lengths, and earliest and latest closing dates. States must operate within these frameworks when establishing state-specific migratory game bird seasons. Season frameworks and pertinent background information are included in briefing item. Notable changes from previous years, duck season closing date of January 31, previously the last Sunday of January, and two additional hunting days for veterans and active military. Staff recommendations and results from recent hunter surveys will be presented at March commission meeting. Chairman Lauber – No reason to not expect liberal framework based on what you know? Bidrowski – We will again be in the liberal frameworks, only changes are January 31 closure and additional days for veterans and active military. Commissioner Sporer – There is a question in there about shooting specks, is it going to be 88-day season? Bidrowski – For the past five years or so we have gone with Option B, the later season dates with two-bird limit. Don't see any reason to change what we have previously had. Commissioner Rider – I was contacted today by somebody who liked that proposal, more days. Chairman Lauber - Recommendation in March.

C. Workshop Session

- 1. Duck Hunting Zone Boundaries Tom Bidrowski, Migratory Gamebird Program manager, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit K). Every five years the US Fish and Wildlife Service opens the frameworks for duck zone guidelines, any changes for the 2021/2022 season must be submitted by May 1, 2020. Zoning is simply the establishment of independent seasons in two or more areas within a state for the purpose of providing equitable distribution of harvest opportunities. Zoning enhances the state's ability to match season dates with available habitat types, migration chronology, and season preferences of duck hunters in specific areas. Guidelines and zone options are listed in briefing item. Zoning only applies to Kansas low plains zone. The high plains unit in the western third of Kansas is not part of this process. Zones have to be contiguous and zone split configurations must conform to one of the four options listed. Since 1972, Kansas waterfowl seasons have had zones or splits with the Low Plains being created in 1996 and Southeast Zone in 2011. Zones and splits are partly based off hunter preference, the department integrates hunter feedback in the decision making process. Six public meetings were held in August to garner waterfowl hunter input and we are currently finishing up a statewide survey of Kansas waterfowl hunters. Although zone boundaries are in place for five years, season dates and bag limits can be adjusted annually. If no changes are adopted, the zones will remain the same as they have been from 2016-2020 season. Commissioner Gfeller – Early zone, why such an irregular shape? Bidrowski – That is part of contiguous boundary requirement; try to match like migration patterns, habitat types and hunter preferences, so that connects Jamestown down to some of the playas around Dodge City, Cheyenne Bottoms, McPherson and some of the earlier shallow-water areas.
- 2. Webless Migratory Bird Regulations Richard Schultheis, migratory game bird research biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit L, PowerPoint – Exhibit M). One regulation staff is considering changes to, 115-25-20, pertaining to sandhill crane hunting and seasons in Kansas. Overall the area open to hunting of sandhill cranes is the western 2/3 of the state, has a 58-day season that opens Wednesday after the first Saturday in November; shooting hours are currently sunrise to sunset; we have a three-bird bag limit and possession limit of nine. It does require the purchase of a sandhill crane permit and before you can purchase it you are required to take an online sandhill crane hunting education test. Since we started the season in 1993, we have averaged 885 crane permits issued and a little less than half, 377, are active crane hunters. These numbers are available through the US Fish and Wildlife Service, based on HIP surveys. Overall our average harvest is 829 birds annually. Majority of harvest occurs in central part of the state and some out west. Receive a request frequently to align seasons with migration. Federal reservoirs and ebird, an online website, track when they see the birds and in the last two or three years there has been an effort to compile that data to make it available. Seeing cranes show up in early October and generally by early- to mid-December most of them are gone. When we compare that to general season framework you can see the request is well founded; crane season is late of when cranes are actually here; for last quarter to half of the seasons there are not usually many cranes left in the state. By December hunting days and harvest are minimal. This goes back when we started hunting sandhill cranes, we made a decision to delay the season opening to avoid potential conflict with whooping cranes. Initially the season opened the first Saturday in November, back in 1993, through 2004, when there was a whooping crane shooting incidence outside of Quivira, after that KDWPT further delayed

opening day of sandhill crane season to the Wednesday after the first Saturday in November. Crane regulations, just like all webless migratory game bird regulations are permanent, so we don't vote on it annually. Implications of having season later, just moving 4-5 days, has reduction of harvest and permits out there. During same time period, starting 2005, midcontinent population has taken off, a number of surveys, count during spring migration, close to a million birds in this population. We have a management plan for this population, not doing a very good job right now and the population has exploded. Plenty of cranes out there. Requests to move season dates; difficult because they are migratory game birds and we are working within frameworks, along with partners at US Fish and Wildlife Service and they are not in favor of moving season earlier with same concerns of conflicts with whooping cranes. There is passion about this species, and we will receive negative feedback if it is in line with same area as whooping cranes. What we are talking about is to split apart this zone to provide some season dates earlier in the year in areas we don't see whooping cranes present. Population of whooping cranes is one of most well-studied species because they are endangered; there are about 500 birds, many studies done on them and we know when they are in the state, so predictable corridor of whooping cranes through the central part of the state. We are proposing splitting unit into west and central to carve out the corridor in central part of state, create a new unit in the west where we can adjust season dates. Additional dataset is maintained by the US Fish and Wildlife Service; when whooping cranes show up we report it, documented since 1961. Of all of the observations, less than three percent were seen in the proposed western unit, in last ten years only two observations. Recommendation is to split unit to west and central zone; open west unit third Saturday in October and run for 58 days consecutively, the amount of days we can have that season. No changes are proposed for central unit, open Wednesday after first Saturday in November and run for 58 days consecutively also. The east boundary the same as before. Starting on U.S. highway 183 on south side of state, run north, carve part out around Webster because there is some core area we wanted to avoid, so jogs to west and meets up with U.S. highway 283; language in briefing book on boundary. Have to go through UD Fish and Wildlife Service process first because change to frameworks. Currently this has already been through this part of federal process. The other states and provinces of the Central Flyway, migratory bird and whooping crane staff of US Fish and Wildlife Service, and the Service regulations committee has approved this change. It will be available for 2020 if commission chooses to make changes to state regulations accordingly. In creating the West Zone with earlier season dates is likely to increase hunter satisfaction and opportunity and potential to redistribute hunters out of whooping crane areas. Commissioner Gfeller – Do we know how many of 829 permits would be in west and in central zones? Schultheis - There is no specific allocation, it is open region-wide. As far as harvest, I can look at that and tell you at next commission meeting. Majority of birds are in central unit in Stafford and Barton counties, how much may be redistributed to the west is anyone's guess. Can try to come up with numbers and give you an estimate. Commissioner Gfeller – Know where whooping cranes are at all the time? Schultheis – Not all the time, know areas where they stop, and some are marked so we would actually know where they are. Our agency doesn't follow that or know that information, but we know areas they stop. Commissioner Gfeller – Impractical or considered opening earlier and closing if whooping cranes show up? Schultheis – There is a whooping crane contingency plan in place, so that is the way it works now; when whooping cranes show up on Cheyenne Bottoms there is an area that is closed to activities, crane and light goose hunting is closed, so that occurs now. Those conversations did occur the last time we went through this process. It is something we consider

from biological standpoint and I think we could move to earlier date across the region and I don't think you would have a meaningful effect, but this represents a compromise to increase hunter satisfaction while protecting whooping cranes, not additional hunting. Could be option but difficult to pursue with the US Fish and Wildlife Service and potentially in the state. Chris Tymeson – Looked at Oklahoma and Texas, wonder about trepidation of the US Fish and Wildlife Service to not allow us to utilize the full frameworks when it seems those two southern states can, unfair to Kansas hunters; they can hunt during peak migration times and they have 90 days. Is our framework 90 days and we set it at 58? Schultheis – We have 58 days, when that decision was made, it took three tries to get that sandhill crane season going in this state. That is where we ended up on initial request and it has stayed that way. It would take a change to those frameworks. Bidrowski – And split season would have to be consecutive. Schultheis – I don't disagree with you when you start adding the days up and you look at when whooping cranes are present in Oklahoma and Texas, an issue we have faced that other states haven't, it does seem like a strange dichotomy in the way they are handling things with this species. We have some opportunity and that could be something we pursue if that is the direction we would like to go. Commissioner Sporer – If sandhills are not in your area when season opens most people won't buy a permit, but if they see the opportunity. If they come in October and the season is closed we don't ever buy a permit. Not something that you just buy and wait for the opportunity.

- 3. Antelope 25-Series Regulations Matt Peek, biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit N). KAR 115-25-7 deals with pronghorn antelope and has been presented several times. Only new thing to add is that we completed Units 17 and 18 winter aerial surveys. We counted the same number as last year in Unit 17, 232 animals and the number continues to decline in Unit 18, counted 105, down from 135 last year and 190s the three years before that. Working with biologists next week to come up with permit allocations, which will be available at the next meeting. Season structure and dates is the same as in previous seasons.
- 4. <u>Elk 25-Series Regulations</u> Matt Peek, biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit O). KAR 115-25-8 has also been presented several times. One new thing is elk season on Fort Riley ended at end of December; 11 out of 12 any-elk permits were filled by antlered bulls, 11 of 18 antlerless elk were filled, so harvest success rates were good. The population there continues to do well. Rest of state, except for Unit 1, which is Cimarron National Grassland, is still open to hunting through March 15. Recommendations are unchanged from previous seasons. Proposing 12 any-elk permits and 18 antlerless elk permits for Fort Riley. Rest of state, with exception of Unit 1, Cimarron area, is open to over-the-counter permits by general residents or landowner/tenants. Specifically, around Fort Riley general residents can't get them but landowner/tenants can.
- VII. RECESS AT 4:50 p.m.
- VIII. RECONVENE AT <u>6:30 p.m.</u>
- IX. RE-INTRODUCTION OF COMMISSIONERS AND GUESTS
- X. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

Dustin King, Jackson County – Are we doing anything about issue of amount of nonresident deer hunters in state? I did some research and 28 percent of 2018 were nonresident tags. Nebraska was closest at 13 percent, Iowa 4 percent, Wisconsin 6 percent, Missouri 3 percent; the physical number isn't increasing it is actually the decline in number of residents buying tags. More frustration, antlerless dropped 25 percent in last five years and antlered was roughly 15 percent. Not raising number of tags, reflects what people are saying. From long-term perspective, a problem for the youth because if I, as a resident, did not take my kids and it snowballs from there. Then even more commercialization. How is that going to impact deer numbers? Nonresidents come to shoot bucks, not does. Is that going to affect maturity levels and increase doe numbers? Maybe a few of them are interested in shooting does; and residents not hunting, who take care of most of the does. Imbalance sooner or later. Agree with some outfitters, put age limits and inch limits on deer; but people will make mistakes, 140 inches is 2-3 years old. Residents don't have any land to hunt they probably are not going to hunt at all. Perceived financial loss from not selling as many tags. Outfitters could scale back and charge more. Don't know what impact on them, hypothetically releasing ground for other people to hunt. If losing residents, we are the ones buying equipment locally (gear, camo, bow, guns, cameras, stands, tractors) so could balance that out. It feels like we are commercializing this. Get on same page with other whitetail states that seem to have a better plan and making this a coveted place to come; only come every 3-4 years, not every year. That is not what hunting is supposed to be. Chairman Lauber – Heard from the other side this afternoon who want more nonresident permits.

Tim Nedeau, northern Osage County – Came to correct a statement made earlier this afternoon. Secretary Loveless said that last night an infamous deer poaching case took place and the deer mount was purchased by a neighboring landowner. I want to make a correction to that statement. I bought the deer mount last night because it was poached on my land, my family's land. I gave a summary to your record keeper of the official Osage County police report filed by Officer Lynn Cook, a multi-award-winning officer. The act of criminal hunting, the poacher did unlawfully hunt and shoot without first obtaining permission of the landowner or person in possession of the said land; Tim Nedeau is listed in his official document. Chairman Lauber – Are you landowner? Nedeau - My mother is. Chairman Lauber - Then why did it say Tim Nedeau? Nedeau -Because when the poacher got caught there were people at the Monster Buck Classic that knew who owned the land and they said you need to call Tim and gave them my number. I am in charge. Wildlife and Parks, the Governor's office, state legislature has been given all kinds of documentation from my mother that I am her land manager, her representative. When the poaching took place, my mom was in Atlanta, Georgia and she said I was her representative. There is another document her that simply says, criminal hunting without the consent of the landowner, I am listed. Officer Cook's report that he filed and signed; said "report truthfully reflects evidence and persons I observed and the information I received, I solemnly swear that the above foregoing conclusion is true and correct so help me God". Commissioner Gfeller – Did he prepare that report at the scene or at the event? Nedeau – The report was February 1, 2012, Officer Cook called me at work on the 1st, he asked me if we had our land posted with purple paint or signs and I said yes to both. He then finished his report later that day and turned it in on the same date. I also included the poacher's handwritten statement that he gave to three officers of Wildlife and Parks; which I typed up word for word. Chairman Lauber – There is a difference of opinion. You have a document that you say is completely accurate, but for a few inaccuracies. Irrespectively we have gone through this again and again. What was your purpose in coming

here today? Nedeau – Poacher states where he was, driving east, deer to his left on north, which is our land, he shot twice, and deer ran across the road and died. Statement for Osage County prosecuting attorney that states the poacher pled guilty. He told judge he thought Tim should be able to keep the antlers, that didn't happen. I am listed as a victim for restitution. The reason I am here is I am not a neighboring landowner; I am the landowner and I want statement corrected. People can have whatever opinion they want, but when you have a man pled guilty to the poaching on my land, I am not a surrounding neighbor, I am the landowner. I want that clarified. Last night I picked up a deer I paid \$16,001 for that was poached on my property. I paid \$16,000 because Wildlife and Parks invited Bass Pro Shop, a multi-billion dollar company, to bid against a schoolteacher. I had to pay \$16,000 for a deer that if it were poached today on my land, I would get it for free. All I ask is that whenever this is talked about again you have the truth, know the truth, and speak the truth. Chairman Lauber – We will speak the truth as we understand it to be. Nedeau - I have all the court documents explaining the truth.

VI. DEPARTMENT REPORT

B. General Discussion (continued)

7. <u>Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD)</u> – Levi Jaster, big game biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (PowerPoint – Exhibit P). With potential chronic wasting disease (CWD) has to impact our state, and the importance of deer and deer hunting in the state; rather than tackle the huge topic of CWD all at once, we will start diving into it a little at a time. Overview of what is going on in Kansas right now and run through important things to consider in the future. Dive into some of those deeper at a later date. CWD is a transmissible spongiform encephalopathy, a prion disease, not a bacteria, it is a mis-faulted piece of protein. It causes neurons to die and holds it in the brain, so brain takes on spongy appearance. CWD is form for deer, elk, moose and reindeer can get it. Other animals can get it but different names for those, scrapie is sheep form, BSE or mad cow disease is bovine form, Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease is human form and there are a few other not as well known, in mink and camels. Always fatal, deer don't die directly from the disease, but it destroys their immune system to the point they are going to die from something else, often pneumonia or respiratory issues. It takes 1 ½ to 2 years for clinical signs to appear. Droopy drooler, where ears are drooping down and they are salivating heavily and in poor body condition; before that hard to tell unless tested, which is only effective three to six months after the deer is infected. Few deer show slight resistance, which means they live a little longer, which is a two-edged sword, spreading prions that much longer. Considered to be the biggest disease threat to North American cervids, largely because difficult to study and come up with answers. Once infected can't easily get rid of it. International issue, in South Korea and Norway. A widespread issue starting in Colorado. Even states that haven't detected it are taking measures to prevent getting it. Borders of Kansas, have it on three sides where we know it is going on, Oklahoma has had minimal sampling so not much information. Eastern Kansas not detected yet but keeping track of it. First detected in a captive elk in 2000 in Harper County, that herd was depopulated, yet to detect it in surrounding counties or in a wild herd there. It took until 2005 before we first got it in the wild herd in Cheyenne County. Since then it has slowly spread across the state. 2011 was the last year of statewide sampling where we saw it pop up farther south, data is too lean to tell us whether that was human-assisted or was there at extremely low prevalence rates. The number of samples we get in a year are very low in

those areas. As we have progressed we added more counties; added six in 2018. In 2019, the only county we added was Russell. Included disease zones and this year we were sampling northwest corner of state, detected in every county in that area. Not adding more in 2019 may be because we weren't sampling in counties where not detected yet. We have had 263 samples, 96 total positives; break downs by zones, northwest 78, none in east zone, southcentral detected in a few counties along western edge; 78 of positives of 204 samples in northwest. Chairman Lauber - Does southcentral include Harper County elk? Jaster - No, these numbers are just this year, not cumulative. The initial analysis on prevalence rate from data in northwest indicates we are in 34to 49-percent range for bucks 2 ½ years old or older. With number of samples we are able to get we can't estimate any closer right now, confident to 95 percent sure that it falls within that range. Positive samples, most come from bucks, which is good news, if we started to see female numbers rise we would be concerned that prevalence rate was high. Species breakdown is 2/3 to 1/3 breakdown between whitetail and mule deer. Heavy into 3 ½ years or older bucks, that may change as we progress. In 2011, we stopped statewide sampling; in 2015 in northwest part of state, and in 2019 we saw that jump again; no different than other states, slow at first then climbs. In 2017, Western states produced a recommended management best practices, adopted in 2018, AFWA, which is a deep technical document. Working on an additional document outlining other practices and a deeper dive. It follows four sections, prevention, surveillance, management and support activities are best practices. For prevention, movement prohibition restrictions are recommended; you don't move anything but, antlers with clean skull cap/clean hide, deboned meat with options like quartering animals the next best thing. To leave head, brain matter and spine in the field. Prevent unnatural concentrations of deer - baiting and feeding. Also recommend prohibiting use of natural urine products. While not actually prohibiting things, we recommend to hunters that they follow those as best they can. Talk more about prevention at other meetings, as well as the rest of those. Surveillance, maintaining a good idea of what is going on in the state to see how prevalence is changing, especially if implementing changes to see if they are working. In Kansas, using five-year rotation with five disease zones, rotate in clockwise direction, so in northcentral this coming season. Encourage hunters to test, especially if hunting in area where CWD has been detected. Work with cooperators, work with taxidermists and processors and making it easier for hunters to sample. For management, Kansas has an internal CWD plan written in 2009. We are updating that. Set harvest goals to reduce animals most likely to be infected; one recommendation is later seasons for states that hunt earlier, we already do that. Also, restrict rehabilitation of deer. Take actions to reduce environmental contamination and minimize number of prions out there. Supporting activities, developing communications to get more information out to folks. Educate hunters on what needs to happen. Work with Nadia in Public Affairs on that. She has worked on poster to go in rental cabins, to let hunters know what they need to do and best disposal issues, etc. Human dimensions work, survey going on now; looking at hunter knowledge of the disease, what actions they support; will discuss later when final reports are done. Educate hunters, public and staff, put out video last year to show hunters how to take sample with pocketknife and zip lock bag. Will need to address economic impacts CWD will cause, changes to deer herd, severe loss of hunters, recreational property values have declined in other states, and how to go forward. Continue monitoring, other research projects, deeper look at sampling and what we are doing around the state in DMUs and what landscape it first appears in to focus sampling in those areas. Additional human dimensions work to assist each other in managing this. Revise regulations where needed. Commissioner Sill - Those prevalence rates in the northwest, in materials I have read we are at risk of it affecting

our population? It is high enough to be in that range? Jaster — Yes. Commissioner Sill — Almost irrelevant given where most of our elk are located, they are affected, is this part of the conversation? Jaster — Yes, next biggest population is elk along Arkansas River in southwest Kansas. Elk tend to get it at lower prevalence rate then deer in same area, partially behavior, but keeping track. Commissioner Sill — As we move forward with regulations this may apply to elk as well. Jaster — Potentially yes. Chairman Lauber — May be forced to discuss carcass movement. May find ourselves cornered. One of the things that would resolve a lot of that; 30,000 to 40,000 deer taken to processing plants, risk could be minimized if carcasses moved to a processing plant and properly disposed of. They don't know how and what best practices are. They are currently paying to have them picked up and don't know where they go. May need to consider putting dumpsters out and dispose of tissue. Jaster — That is the issue with movement, the disposal at the end. Chairman Lauber — Locker plant willing to work with us if we help them. Keep that in mind.

Dustin King – Baiting or feeding sites, have you been looking at that as something to restrict? Surrounding states with the exception of Oklahoma; at least some restrictions. Jaster – One of those things, without accounting for long distance movements, we can't tackle short distance movements. It is on the human dimensions survey to get idea of what is an acceptable plan. Don't want to jump in too early and have it completely overturned and go backwards; tough thing to tackle. A problem in relation to CWD and potentially the issue if somebody develops a treatment or cure for it because that it likely the way we would have to deliver it. Anything that is a problem can be adapted to be a solution too and we want to work with folks to do that.

David Lauber – How is it transmitted from deer to deer? Jaster – Through behavior, but not sure about how it transmits; orally through behavior of licking can be one route, environmentally, which is why feeders could be a problem, research that plants can take it up and deer eat the plants. David Lauber – As a landowner and see deer not acting right do we contact law enforcement officer? Jaster – Yes. In those cases, any sick suspect animal we will come and check out and everyone one of those animals we encounter we try to test. David Lauber – Gerald made comment about properly disposing them. Can spores be spread if semi hits a deer and drives across the country, can it be spread that way? Jaster – Potentially, we also don't know what dosage deer have to have before they get it. It could be that way, but minimal material not known, but that site where hit could be contaminated. Recommended practice is to put carcasses in a landfill or put back where harvested. David Lauber – Same spore as mad cow disease? Jaster – It is similar, this is deer version versus bovine version. David Lauber – It can't be passed on? Chairman Lauber – To humans? David Lauber – No, to cattle? Jaster – It has not been observed yet. There has been a laboratory study where they directly injected it into cattle, it took a specific dose given directly to animal, not seen in the wild, but there is definitely concern. It originally came from scrapie's and that it could change again. A concern with almost every disease. Commissioner Gfeller – A number of our deer hunters process their own deer. If disposal is an issue, proper way to dispose of it? Jaster – Landfills are the best option or take back where it came from. Chairman Lauber – They have dumpsters out in Wyoming for sportsmen. Jaster – Some eastern states have gone that route too. We are discussing that. Chairman Lauber – Don't solve problem if you take it back where it came from, but didn't spread it, just stays there. The theory is that it travels at 55 miles per hour. Jaster – Yes. It is one of those cases where help from our hunters is definitely a help.

8. KAR 115-25-9a. Deer; open season, bag limit, and permits; additional considerations; Fort Riley – Levi Jaster, big game biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit Q). Typical to previous years with one exception, Smoky Hill Air National Guard subunit requested same season as statewide. Fort Riley subunit are additional archery days for individuals authorized by Fort Riley to include period from September 1-13 and January 11-31; typically, individuals deployed or going to be deployed and would not have an opportunity to hunt otherwise. Also, would like additional days for designated persons, youth and disabled, for October 10-12, replaces pre-rut season they don't want. Firearms season dates of Nov 27-29 and December 15-23. It adjusts the dates but don't get any more days, just 12 same as the rest of the state. Fort Leavenworth subunit wants open firearm season for deer November 14-15, November 21-22, November 26-29, December 5-6, and December 12-13; again, only adjusts dates and they only get 12 days. They want extended firearm season for antlerless deer January 1-24; and extended archery season for antlerless only whitetail deer January 25-31. Deer hunters can use one antlerless-only permit on Fort Riley, in subunit A, and Smokey Hill subunit 4A; and five at Fort Leavenworth, subunit 10A. Military installations season dates will be completed at the Public Hearing in June.

C. Workshop Session (continued)

5. <u>Big Game Regulations</u> – Levi Jaster, big game biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit R). KAR 115-4-2, general provisions. Because of CWD, one alternative is to completely debone meat is to allow quartered carcasses with no spinal column or head attached. We recommend we a change to proof of sex regulations on antlerless deer to allow for quartering and leave portion of hide with visible sex organs attached as proof of sex, or they could, as they currently can, photo register their deer and totally debone it. This would allow hunters to remove portion of carcass we want left in the field without placing actual restriction on movement. Hunters with either-sex permit are already allowed to do this. Commissioner Sill – Either or can leave the head attached as now, or requiring them to take the head off and leave sex organ or just adding that option? Jaster – Added option. Commissioner Sill – Leave head attached or quarter and leave sex organs attached, either way is good for now? Jaster – Yes, this would apply to all big game animals, so would include elk and pronghorn. Tymeson – Voted on in March.

115-4-4, legal equipment. Seeking input on proposed option to remove prohibition on devices that lock a vertical bow at partial or full draw to be allowed as legal. Can be used by any archery hunter. Garry Cook, Fort Scott – Have crossbows, why do we need draw locks? Chairman Lauber – Allowing crossbows, why not draw locks. Cook – Not very accurate because not holding any pressure, hard to hold arm out steady. Chairman Lauber – People who feel helpful to their situation. Don't see a big difference between the two as far as mechanical. Cook – Not in favor of crossbows either. In favor for handicap, but not anybody. Chairman Lauber – I understand. Not sure physics distinction or how they really work. Cook – With crossbow can pull into shoulder and hold pressure, with draw lock you can't. Commissioner Gfeller – Is draw any different on crossbow versus a regular bow with a draw lock? Does it make it easier for somebody to draw a bow? Cook – No, the only advantage is don't have to move, you still have to draw it by hand. Jaster – Some are designed to use your foot and pull with both hands. Commissioner Sill – Applies not just to draw locks but to many inventions that come along,

issue of fair chase. There are a lot of regulations that make it easier for hunters, not easier to gain access or become better hunters. Making it easier to kill game, have game cameras that ping your phone and show you right where the deer are; gone from traditional muzzleloaders that are 50-75 yard weapons to muzzleloaders that are accurate at 250 plus yards; gone from traditional archery equipment to crossbows that are accurate at 50 yards in the hand of a beginner; we erect elevated stands in wheat fields where you can stay warm, out of the wind and drink our coffee, move around and shoot 300 yard shots or more at grazing deer; pile corn in the field and train the deer to come to the corn and shoot them; and we call this hunting. Theodore Roosevelt is credited with articulating the idea of fair chase in the 1880s. It is the same time that market hunting was exploiting resources and economic gain was the primary issue and it was seen as a severe threat to the resource and to us, ultimately because of that. Out of the exploitation came hunting and conservation ethic, that has guided conservation and hunting for 150 years in our country. Exploitation was the motivation for the development of ethics, so if we look back at the past 60 years in our state we have seen it go from pendulum, from money, greed and market hunting to successful conservation processes, practices and ethics. It is swinging back, we don't sell meat, but sell antlers, sell access, sell opportunities for bragging rights. We see our natural resources as commodities, and value the outcome over the process of hunting, value economic benefit over intangible resources, and ignore principal of democracy of hunting as benefits to all citizens, not just wealthy and privileged. We appeal to North American model and we tell people wildlife belongs to the state and people of the state, not to landowners, but we seem to forget all of those other pillars, which includes the concept of fair chase. It is time to realize some of our decisions there are ethical dimensions, not just practical and economic. Without retaining a foundation that includes the ethics and things like fair chase, how far are we going to go with innovations. Why not just sell permits on Amazon for \$5.99 to do whatever you want if no ethical base for things and considering that in the decisions we make. I find that concerning. Not about cheating, but we have to consider what does making it easier for the hunter really mean. Chairman Lauber – I have a Weatherby magnum and several rifles that have been modified and changed to shoot more accurately, shoot flatter, have more ballistically coefficient because of the loads, because of technology but I don't consider that as reducing fair chase. I don't consider reducing fair chase from using a long bow to a compound bow, yes it made it easier and gave you an edge, but I don't think that affected fair chase. I understand what you are saying but technology is advancing, and I don't think we need to go back to 45-70s and round bullets, harder to kill a deer and hunt but at what point do we say we are done with technology. These things occur incrementally, thought draw lock same as crossbow. Heard this when we allowed scopes on muzzleloaders. Easier to hunt with a centerfire than it is with a muzzleloader. Still think this is fair chase. Dustin King – I agree with what she said, when do we draw the line? Chairman Lauber – I agree with some of it and some I don't.

115-4-6, deer firearm management units. There is a section in south of deer management Unit 10 that falls below Unit 19 (Exhibit S – map). A small triangle that only allows one antlerless deer tag and is surrounded by areas that you could use up to five. Had concern from hunters and landowners in that area, to be more in line with surrounding management. Also, on north side boundaries confusing because it followed many side roads. Rather than changing all of the main boundaries of first 18 units we are proposing expansion of the urban unit, Unit 19. Commissioner Gfeller – We vote in March? Jaster – Yes.

6. <u>Deer 25-Series Regulations</u> – Levi Jaster, big game biologist, presented this regulation to the Commission (Exhibit T). This is where we set number of permits that can be used in what units and seasons. Due to flood damage seeing crop damage complaints around Elk City and Berentz Dick Wildlife Area, also known as the buffalo ranch. While our state property there would only allow one permit to be used for antlerless whitetails, we are recommending adding those areas to list of state wildlife areas that allow four additional antlerless permits. Commissioner Sill – When you buy permits, none of them are marked valid on state land or not valid on state land. Jaster – The first one is marked that way and they all have the units. Chairman Lauber – It is not easy to tell, you can tell which is the first one, but not easily marked. Commissioner Sill – Confusing in the book, it says, the first, but in the regulations it says, only one, it doesn't say it is the first one. Also, book didn't include 16 this year. Assistant Secretary Miller – That was a mistake. Commissioner Sill – I got out my tags and started looking at them and I am asking from enforceability perspective. You are asking people on their honor to take one from state land and not the rest because if the tags aren't marked it is difficult. Assistant Secretary Miller – First one says, valid statewide on private and public land. There are only a few wildlife areas that allow more than one and those are listed in the regulations. Tymeson – Issue of size of permit and how much will fit on there. Point well taken. Jaster - We are considering issuing a few either-species antlerless-only permits in Unit 1 where we have had complaints of crop damage caused by mule deer. Number of permits issued will be done through Secretary's Orders; currently looking at population surveys to determine if we will issue any up there or not. Season dates follow what we have done historically except for adding more days to hunt in extended whitetail antlerless-only seasons in January; 10 days in shortest season, 17 days in middle and 24 days in long season. Youth and disabled season, September 5-13, 2020; early muzzleloader, September 14-27, 2020; archery and muzzleloader would run concurrently and then archery would continue to December 31, 2020 (September 14 – December 31, 2020); threeday pre-rut whitetail antlerless only (WAO) firearm season, October 10-12, 2020; regular firearm season, December 2 through December 13; first extended season January 1-10, 2021; for second season, January 1-17, 2021; and third season, January 1-24, 2021; and extended archery season in Unit 19, January 25-31, 2021. Dustin King – With extending these, have we done study on how many shed bucks? I have two that have already shed, which is my concern with extending that. Jaster – Looking at harvest last couple of years, harvest between 800 to 1,000 shed deer, from those we saw about 25 percent harvested in January, rest in regular seasons; which amounts to about 216 shed bucks a year killed in January. I will keep an eye on that as we move forward if we extend season lengths. That amounts to needing over 100 square miles for one of those deer across the state. Many of hunters that take those deer want a deer and we want to give them an opportunity; the ones that want to grow animals out are the ones that take the time to identify and are okay with not having a deer that year. We will pay attention to that and looking deeper into harvest numbers from past years.

D. Public Hearing

None

XII. OLD BUSINESS

XIII. OTHER BUSINESS

A. Future Meeting Locations and Dates

March 26, 2020 – Topeka, Kansas Historical Society April 23, 2020 – Hutchinson, Hutchinson Zoo June 25, 2020 – New Strawn (Burlington), New Strawn Community Center August 20, 2020 – Meet in Beloit, tour Ring Neck Ranch in morning as invited

XIV. ADJOURNMENT

Adjourned at 7:25 pm.